## Supreme Court of the State of California

TWANDA BAILEY,

Plaintiff, Appellant and Petitioner,

VS.

SAN FRANCISO DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE, GEORGE GASCON, CITY & COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO,

Defendants and Respondents.

#### S265223

First Appellate District, Division One No. A153520

San Francisco Superior Court No. CGC 15-549675

### PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Appeal from the Summary Judgment San Francisco Superior Court, No. CGC 15-549675 Honorable Harold Kahn

DANIEL RAY BACON, No. 103866 Law Offices of Daniel Ray Bacon 234 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco, CA 94102 Telephone (415) 864-0907

Facsimile: (415) 864-0989

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Plaintiff-appellant Twanda Bailey contests the decision ("Decision") of the First Appellate District, Division One ("CA") (Benke, J.), affirming the summary judgment for defendants City and County of San Francisco ("City") and its District Attorney's Office ("DAO") (collectively "City" or "City/DAO") on her race discrimination, harassment, retaliation and other claims arising under California's Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA). (Gov. Code §12940(a), (h), (j)(1), (k).)¹ Bailey presents the following issues:

- 1. Whether the CA, ignoring and misapplying California's standards governing unlawful harassment claims, erroneously affirmed the summary judgment on Bailey's hostile work environment/unlawful harassment claim?
- (a) Whether Bailey, who was called a "scary n---r" (literally "you 'n—rs' are so scary") by her co-worker is nonetheless barred from taking her hostile work environment claim to a trial jury solely because the one-time racial slur did not come from a supervisor? (§§12923(a)-(e), 12940(j)(1).)
- (b) Whether the City/DAO's failure to take immediate and appropriate corrective action in response to the racial slur (§12940(j)(1)) is a triable issue for the jury where the record shows, among other things, that the DAO Human Resources Department Manager (i) deliberately obstructed and undermined Bailey's harassment complaint, ultimately destroying her

Statutory references are to the Government Code unless otherwise indicated. All emphases in statutory or regulatory quotes are added.

personnel file; (ii) repeatedly threatened and harassed Bailey for pursuing her complaint; and (iii) refused for nine months to separate Bailey from her harasser, instead forcing Bailey to work closely with her?

2. Whether the CA erroneously affirmed the summary judgment on Bailey's unlawful retaliation claim where, in direct conflict with the standards governing retaliation claims this Court articulated in *Yanowitz v. L'Oreal USA, Inc.* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 1028, 1052 and fn. 11, 1053-1056, the CA held that none of the misconduct comprising the City/DAO's response to her harassment complaint, including the DAO HR Department Manager's malfeasance referenced above, could constitute an actionable adverse employment action?

Additionally, in its answer to the petition for review, City/DAO framed the following issues:

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeal's application of existing case law regarding hostile work environments warrants this Court's review?
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeal's application of existing case law regarding unlawful retaliation warrants this Court's review?

#### INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Names can be powerful, for good and ill. At its core, this case presents a question whether FEHA, one of California's foundational civil rights laws, recognizes that truth, and will protect employees from racial abuse by names that are used to destroy their dignity and deny their worth as human beings, the essential value underlying that law.

By affirming the summary judgment against Bailey on her unlawful harassment claim, the CA said no, so long as the name was used but once by a co-worker rather than by a supervisor. Persisting in the same

constricted view of FEHA's protections – which ignores FEHA's mandate that they be broadly construed and assessed in each case in light of the "totality of circumstances" the victims experienced – the CA also independently found that City/DAO could not be held liable for harassment arising from her co-worker's one-time racial slur or for its campaign of retaliation against Bailey for seeking redress for that racial harassment. The Legislature, however, has implicitly rejected the CA's approach by its recent reaffirmation of FEHA's broad reach in the specific context of unlawful harassment. (See §12923(a)-(e); Stats 2018, ch. 55 (SB 1300 (Jackson)).) This Court here has the opportunity to do the same.

**1A.** Co-Worker Harassment. Affirming the summary judgment, the CA held on Bailey's hostile work environment/unlawful harassment claim that a co-worker's, as opposed to a supervisor's, one-time racial slur – telling Bailey "You n---rs are so scary," which Bailey heard and experienced as "scary n---r" – could not create a hostile work environment as a matter of law. (Slip Op. 5-12, esp. 9-12.) California and Federal law, however, affirm that a single instance of verbal harassment, may be actionable. (See, e.g., §12923(b); *Faragher v. City of Boca Raton* (1998) 524 U.S. 775, 788; EEOC Compliance Manual (CCH 2018) Section 15, Race and Color Discrimination §15-VII(A) at 7221-7223 (see Appendix).)

Indeed, among all ethnic slurs, "n---r" is universally recognized as the most serious derogation of the victim's humanity. (See EEOC Compliance Manual, §15-VII(A) at 7222 ("[A] single, extremely serious incident of harassment may be sufficient to constitute a Title VII violation.... Examples of the types of single incidents that can create a hostile work environment based on race include: ...an unambiguous racial

epithet such as the N-word..."); *Alcorn v. Anbro Engineering, Inc.* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 493, 496-499, fns. 2–4, esp. fn. 4 (the "epithet 'n---r'...has become particularly abusive and insulting in light of recent developments in the civil rights' movement as it pertains to the American Negro"); *Agarwal v. Johnson* (1979) 25 Cal.3d 923, 941, 946-949 ("n-word" may constitute actionable outrageous conduct when used by a supervisor or if the victim is especially susceptible);<sup>2</sup> see also *Ayissi-Etoh v. Fannie Mae* (D.C. Cir. 2013) 712 F.3d 572, 580 (Kavanaugh, J., concurring) ("That epithet has been labeled, variously, a term that 'sums up...all the bitter years of insult and struggle in America"); *Spriggs v. Diamond Auto Glass* (4th Cir. 2001) 242 F.3d 179, 185, emphasis added ("Far more than a 'mere offensive utterance,' *the word 'nigger' is pure anathema to African Americans...*"; "*it is degrading and humiliating in the extreme*"); see also Letter of Legal Aid at Work as Amicus Curiae in Support of Petition for Review at pp. 3-6, 4 (2020-12-18) (slurs "such as the n-word cannot be understood simply in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Alcorn and Agarwal were not FEHA cases. But their similar factintensive analyses of the slur's destructive power fully apply to a FEHA harassment claim, especially under FEHA's recent clarifying amendments. (See §12923(a)-(e); Agarwal, 25 Cal.3d at 941-943; Alcorn, 2 Cal.3d at 498 n. 4, 499 ("it is for the jury...to determine whether in the particular case, the conduct has been sufficiently extreme and outrageous to result in liability").)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Because California and federal anti-discrimination laws are similar, California courts look to federal law when interpreting similar FEHA provisions. (*Guz v. Bechtel National, Inc.* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 317, 354, 358, 360-361; *Mixon v. FEHC* (1987) 192 Cal.App.3d 1306, 1316-1317.) The CA recognizes this principle, but offers no reason for refusing to follow federal Title VII standards here.

isolation, as 'merely offensive' terms, because they are powerfully freighted with long histories of subjugation and violence").)

The CA's categorical distinction between a co-worker's and supervisor's use of this racial slur is irreconcilably inconsistent with the n-word's long-recognized destructive power, as well as with the letter and spirit of FEHA's guarantees and protections, particularly FEHA's recent amendments specifically addressing unlawful harassment, all embodying fundamental state policy.

1B. Employer Liability for Co-worker Harassment. **FEHA** requires employers to respond "immediately and appropriately" to coworker harassment in order to avoid liability for such harassment. (§12940(j)(1); 2 Cal. Code Regs. ("CCR") §11023(a).) Consistent with its focus on the workplace realities of unlawful discrimination, FEHA's mandate that the employer's response be "appropriate" demands a holistic, "totality of circumstances" assessment of the employer's response focused not just on the perpetrator's conduct, but on whether the response "appropriately" serves to show that such harassment will be taken seriously and to eliminate or prevent such harassment in the workplace as a whole. (See, e.g., Ellison v. Brady (9th Cir. 1991) 924 F.2d 872, 881, 882 (discipline must be both "proportionat[e] to the seriousness of the offense" and employer's condemnation sufficiently strong to "persuade potential harassers to refrain from unlawful conduct" in order to "maintain a harassment-free working environment"); Intlekofer v. Turnage (9th Cir. 1992) 973 F.2d 773, 779 ("the appropriateness of the remedy depends on ... 'the remedy's ability to persuade potential harassers to refrain from unlawful conduct"); id. at 784 ("the benchmark of an adequate employer response ... must be its effectiveness in preventing and eliminating sexual harassment in the workplace").)

Here, the City/DAO's haphazard responses – ranging from negligence at best to the DAO Human Resources Manager's deliberately obstructive and abusive malfeasance, including, among other things, her refusal to file or otherwise pursue Bailey's harassment complaint based on her co-worker's racial slur (see infra at 22-23) – demanded such a comprehensive assessment. Ignoring this broader standard, however, and again narrowly reading FEHA, the CA looked to only one aspect of the City/DAO's response, and held that the mere fact that the DAO advised the perpetrator that racial slurs were unacceptable and the slur wasn't repeated, was sufficient to avoid liability as a matter of law. (Slip Op. 12-17.) But in so ruling, the CA not only ignored the obvious deficiencies of the counseling that did occur,<sup>4</sup> but subverted the core purpose of FEHA's employer liability standard, to ensure that the profound injuries such discriminatory harassment – here, involving a singularly virulent racial slur - caused to the victim and the workplace as a whole are properly remediated.

2. Retaliation. Lastly, the CA rejected Bailey's retaliation claim, reasoning that, as a matter of law, none of the City/DAO's misconduct, including the triggering racial slur and its HR Manager's malfeasance in

As discussed below, neither the perpetrator nor anyone else involved saw or experienced the "counseling" as discipline at all, let alone discipline either immediate or appropriate to the offense. (2.AA.243:22-23 ¶7 (Bailey); 2.AA.468:19-469:25, 475:16-17, 476:18-478:12, 482:6-17 (Larkin); 4.AA.750-751 (Arcelona).)

responding to Bailey's harassment complaint, could either materially change the terms and conditions of Bailey's employment or constitute an actionable adverse employment action supporting a retaliation claim. (Slip Op. 17-20.)

The CA's Decision, however, ignores this Court's recognition that the creation of a hostile work environment itself constitutes an actionable adverse employment action. (*Yanowitz*, 36 Cal.4th at 1053 fn. 12, 1056 fn. 16.) The Decision further conflicts with the basic standards this Court articulated governing retaliation claims, notably: (a) the retaliatory actions must be assessed "collectively" as an integrated whole (*id.* at 1052 and fn. 11, 1053-1056); and (b) in all cases "[FEHA] protects an employee against unlawful discrimination with respect...to...the *entire spectrum of employment actions that are reasonably likely to adversely and materially affect an employee's job performance* or opportunity for advancement"; and that "the phrase 'terms, conditions or privileges' of employment must be *interpreted liberally and with a reasonable appreciation of the realities of the workplace* in order to afford employees the *appropriate and generous protection* against employment discrimination that FEHA was intended to provide" (*id.* at 1052-1055 and fns. 11-14, emphasis added).

**3. Conclusion.** The seriousness of the CA Decision's defects is best measured against FEHA's salutary goals. FEHA's guarantees and protections against workplace discrimination, harassment and retaliation embody fundamental state policy that must be liberally construed in furtherance of their remedial goals. (§§12920, 12921(a), 12993(a); 2 CCR §11006; *Commodore Home Systems, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1982) 32 Cal.3d 211, 220 ("The policy that promotes the right to seek and hold

employment free of prejudice is fundamental. ...[FEHA's] aim is to provide effective remedies against the evil"); see also *Yanowitz*, 36 Cal.4th at 1053-1054 and fn. 14; *Flannery v. Prentice* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 572, 584; *City of Moorpark v. Superior Court* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 1143, 1157; *Aguilar v. Avis Rent A Car* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 121, 129; compare *Christian v. Umpqua Bank, Inc.* (9th Cir. 2020) 984 F.3d 801, 809-810, quoting *King v. Hillen* (Fed. Cir. 1994) 21 F.3d 1572, 1582 ("The purpose of Title VII is ... to liberate the workplace from the demeaning influence of discrimination, and thereby to implement the goals of human dignity and economic equality in employment").)

The CA's ruling here is fundamentally inconsistent with these principles and the governing standards on each of Bailey's identified claims. Further, the CA's inexplicably unfair ruling, rendering FEHA's protections a near nullity for Bailey, contradict both the letter and spirit of the Legislature's recent clarification of California anti-harassment law. (§12923(a)–(e), codifying Stats 2018, ch. 955 (SB 1300).) Protections against workplace harassment are among FEHA's most important guarantees. The CA Decision, which compromises those protections and guarantees at every turn, must be reversed.

#### CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FACTS

As previously noted, the CA sketches only an outline of the facts material to Bailey's claims, omitting important evidence providing necessary context for the racial slur against Bailey and the following City/DAO response. Because a jury would be entitled to consider that full context, i.e., the totality of circumstances (§12923(c); *Yanowitz*, 36 Cal.4th

at 1055-1056), in assessing her harassment and retaliation claims, Bailey will present a consolidated summary of the relevant evidence and facts.

Because this review arises on summary judgment, the Court must assume the jury would find in Bailey's favor on all material facts and relevant inferences, and must liberally construe the evidence in her favor while strictly construing the City/DAO's evidence. Further, the Court must resolve all ambiguities, doubts and credibility issues in Bailey's favor, and accept her evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom as true. (*Yanowitz*, 36 Cal.4th at 1037; *Aguilar v. Atlantic Richfield Co.* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 857; *Castro-Ramirez v. Dependable Highway Express, Inc.* (2016) 2 Cal.App.5th 1028, 1036.) Bailey will summarize the operative facts consistent with these settled standards.

#### I. BAILEY'S POSITION AND EXEMPLARY WORK RECORD.

Bailey was hired by City/DAO on April 16, 2001 as a Clerk in the DAO's records department. (2.AA.241 ¶2.) Because she performed her job well, receiving excellent performance reviews, without any noted criticisms throughout her employment, Bailey was promoted in August 2011 to Investigative Assistant [Classification 8132]. (2.AA.241 ¶3.)

Bailey continued to perform well, in particular, being consistently courteous with the public, cooperative and punctual within the department. (2.AA.241 ¶3.) Bailey received written compliments and accolades from attorneys she worked with in the DAO as well as the San Francisco Police Department, including recognitions of her: "conscientiousness," her "utmost professionalism," her "attention to detail," her "pleasant and courteous demeanor," her "commitment and dedication to her work," her "high moral character," and her "organizational skills and her strong work ethic."

(AA.241:18-26  $\P$ 3.) Bailey also received letters of appreciation from the communities she served. (2.AA.241:24-25  $\P$ 3.)<sup>5</sup>

#### II. CO-WORKER LARKIN'S JANUARY 22, 2015 RACIAL SLUR

On Thursday, January 22, 2015, while Bailey was working at her desk, a co-worker, Saras Larkin, a Fijian/East Indian, told Bailey that she saw a mouse run under Bailey's desk. Bailey screamed, jumped out of her chair and ran to the doorway. Larkin got up from her desk, walked past Bailey, then walked back to Bailey and told her: "You niggers is so scary." (2.AA.241-242 ¶4; 2.AA.389-391.)

Up to this point, Bailey felt she had a "working friendship" with Larkin, and had not had personal problems with her. (2.AA.393:13-17.) Bailey nonetheless had observed that Larkin could be harsh toward other African American women. The previous week, Larkin had mocked Tiffany Mathis-Ward, an African American woman, for her reaction to a similar mouse sighting. (2.AA.391:23-393:12.) More systemically, Bailey also knew that Larkin had used her close relationship to the DAO's Human Resources ("HR") Manager, Evette Taylor-Monachino, to make false

Although acknowledging these historically favorable performance reviews, the CA misses their potential significance to a jury: (a) not only were Bailey's evaluations criticism-free, but her previously recognized strengths were starkly at odds with the attendance and attitude problems her June 2015 Performance Review later noted; and (b) these criticisms both reflected and amplified the emotional trauma, and adverse effect on her job performance caused by her co-worker's racial slur and from City/DAO's failure to take appropriate corrective action. (§12923(a); 2.AA.272-273.) While the Performance Review's overall performance rating stayed the same, which the CA improperly construed against Bailey (Slip Op. 19), a jury could reasonably see the noted deficiencies as evidence of Bailey's work-related trauma.

allegations against other African-American women who were subsequently removed from the office. (2.AA.242:2-6 ¶4, 243:19-24 ¶7; 1.AA.99-101; 2.AA.399:9-400:17.)

Shaken and offended by Larkin's racial slur, Bailey immediately left the records office to calm down. (2.AA.242:6-9 ¶4; 2.AA.394-397, 396:24-25 ("I just needed to cool off").) Bailey ran into several of her co-workers (Lisa Ortiz, DaVonne Mark and Lee-Ann Collins), who saw she was upset and asked her what was wrong, after which Bailey told them that Larkin had just called her a "scary nigger." (*Id.*; 2.AA.282 ¶3, 285 ¶3, 288 ¶3.)

Despite being deeply hurt by Larkin's slur, Bailey did not immediately complain to the DAO Human Resources because she continued to fear retaliation stemming from Larkin's close relationship with the HR Manager, Evette Taylor-Monachino, who would be responsible for any EEO complaint. (2.AA.242:2-6 ¶4, 243:19-24 ¶7; 1.AA.99-101; 2.AA.399:9-400:7.)<sup>6</sup>

The CA's discussion of the January 22, 2015, racial slur incident fails to recognize or appreciate significant factors favoring Bailey revealed by a consideration of the statutorily mandated "totality of circumstances." (§12923(c).) The CA fails to appreciate that Larkin amplified the unadorned slur by effectively calling Bailey a "scary n---r." (See Slip Op. 2; 2.AA.241-242 ¶4, 389-391, 394-397; 2.AA.282 ¶3, 285 ¶3, 288 ¶3.) That even the unadorned slur is universally recognized as the worst possible slur against African Americans in light of our nation's ongoing history of their slavery and oppression (*supra* at 9-10; *infra* at 32-35), would allow a jury to reasonably find that Larkin's slur even more strongly evoked the virulent image of African Americans as inherently violent and dangerous.

The CA also fails to acknowledge that Bailey legitimately feared retaliation if she pursued a complaint against Larkin. Very much like a slur from a supervisor, Bailey experienced the slur as both a devastating racial insult, and one that posed a concrete threat to her position in the DAO.

# III. THE DAO'S AND CITY'S ALLEGEDLY "IMMEDIATE AND APPROPRIATE" CORRECTIVE ACTION.

The CA found that the DAO's two meetings with Larkin, wherein she was told that using racial slurs was unacceptable, constituted a sufficient "immediate and appropriate" response as a matter of law, entitling City/DAO to summary judgment. The CA's ruling, however, not only ignores that City/DAO's response to Larkin's slur and Bailey's workplace trauma was deficient on its own terms, but it also disregards the full adverse scope of their response.

Bailey's supervisor, Alexandra Lopes, learned of the slur incident the following day, Friday, January 23, 2015, when she overheard Bailey's co-workers talking about it at the office's holiday gathering. (2.AA.242 ¶5.) When Bailey confirmed for her that Larkin had called her a "scary nigger," Lopes said she would notify the DAO Human Resources Office the following Monday. (2.AA.404:9-19; see generally 2.AA.242 ¶5; 2.AA.404-405; 2.AA.282 ¶4; 285 ¶4.)

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