SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

TWANDA BAILEY,

Case No. S265223

Bailey/Appellant,

First Appellate District, Division One; No. A153520

VS.

San Francisco Superior Court No. CGC 15-549675

SAN FRANCISCO DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE, GEORGE GASCON, CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO,

Respondents/Appellees

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENTS SAN FRANCISCO DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE, GEORGE GASCON, CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO

Appeal from the Summary Judgment San Francisco Superior Court, No. CGC 15-549675

The Honorable Harold Kahn

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

Counseling or admonishing the offender is adequate corrective and preventative action where—as here—it ends the harassment. (*Swenson*, *supra*, 271 F.3d at p. 1198; *Star v. West* (9th Cir. 2001) 237 F.3d 1036, 1039 [describing counseling as an "adequate 'disciplinary' response"]; *Intlekofer v. Turnage* (9th Cir. 1992) 973 F.2d 773, 779 [holding counseling sufficient for first offenders, explaining that "an oral rebuke may be very effective in stopping the unlawful conduct."])⁸ Bailey asserts that the City and Larkin did not regard the counseling as discipline, but that

⁸ Even the cases Bailey cites make "clear that counseling or admonishing the offender can constitute an adequate 'disciplinary' response." (*Star v. West, supra,* 237 F.3d at p. 1039 [explaining that *Ellison, Fuller,* and *Yamaguchi* do not hold that punitive action is required to satisfy an employer's obligation to take corrective action]).

is immaterial: "An employer's refusal to apply the label 'discipline' to any of these actions is not determinative of their adequacy as a remedy. What is important is whether the employer's actions, however labeled," ended the racial harassment. (*Star*, at p. 1039). Furthermore, Larkin *did* view counseling as discipline. (AA 478-480 [Larkin testifying: "I think I did get disciplinary action."])

Public policy also does not support Bailey's claim that employers must impose punitive disciplinary measures against employees accused of harassment, particularly in cases like this where the evidence of misconduct was inconclusive. Bailey contends that Larkin used the slur without any witnesses present, and Larkin denied making the statement. (AA 181:12-13; 242:2; 333:11-334:10; 390:15-393:7; 629:3-16.) Under those circumstances, where the City could neither sustain or disapprove the allegation, the City appropriately focused on taking steps to prevent any further harassment—and the undisputed facts show the City's actions succeeded in preventing further harassment. (AA 100:20-22; 171:18-20.)

FEHA does not require the City to do otherwise. Indeed, as the Ninth Circuit explained, "[a]s a matter of policy, it makes no sense to tell employers that they act at their legal peril if they fail to impose discipline even if they do not find what they consider to be sufficient evidence of harassment." (Swenson, supra, 271 F.3d at p. 1196; see also Harris v. L & L Wings, Inc. (4th Cir. 1997) 132 F.3d 978, 984.) Although "[e]mployees are no better served by a wrongful determination that harassment occurred than by a wrongful determination that no harassment occurred," requiring employers to take punitive discipline against all employees accused of harassment would cause employers to "conduct investigations that are less than fully objective and fair," and impose punitive measures when they are

not warranted. (Swenson, at p. 1196). No sound public policy supports that result. (Ibid.; Harris, at p. 984 [holding Title VII "in no way requires an employer to dispense with fair procedures for those accused or to discharge every alleged harasser."]; Adler v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. (10th Cir. 1998) 144 F.3d 664, 677 ["If our rule were to call for excessive discipline, employers would inevitably face claims from the other direction of violations of due process rights and wrongful termination."]). Bailey suggests that a punitive disciplinary response would have deterred future harassers by sending a message that the City takes its obligation to create a harassment-free workplace seriously, (AOB at 39), but Bailey is incorrect. Personnel matters are confidential to protect privacy interests. The City is not required to impose punitive discipline and then broadcast news of that discipline throughout the workforce to send a message. (Adler, at p. 679) ["Whether even the immediate firing of each harasser would have actually deterred future wrongdoers is purely speculative, and factually impossible if the future harassers did not know about those actions. Unless we hold employers strictly liable for failing to broadcast sensitive disciplinary matters to their entire workforces, we cannot predicate liability on this theory."])

Bailey contends that the City's response was insufficient because she claims the City should have immediately separated Bailey and Larkin, and assigned someone else to cover Larkin's duties when Larkin was unavailable. (AOB at 40.) But FEHA does not require the City to provide Bailey with a Larkin-free workplace. (*Swenson*, *supra*, 271 F.3d at pp. 1192–1193). An "employer's legitimate interest in avoiding disruption to its business" can cause an employer to "reasonably decide that the employees must continue working together while awaiting the outcome of

the investigation" and after the investigation concludes where, as here, the charge of harassment could not be proved. (Swenson, at p. 1193 n. 8; Konstantopoulos v. Westvaco Corporation (3d Cir. 1997) 112 F.3d 710, 718 [rejecting argument that it is "always illegal for an employer to require a prior victim of sexual harassment to return to work in the company of coworkers responsible for the prior harassment"]). An employer has "wide discretion" in deciding whether employees must continue to work together "so long as it acts to stop the harassment." (Bradley, supra, 158) Cal.App.4th at p. 1630.) And, given that it is undisputed that the City stopped Bailey from experiencing any further racial harassment, the City's response is not improper merely because Bailey wishes the City had exercised its discretion in a different way. (*Knabe, supra,* 114 F.3d at p. 414 [explaining that "if the remedy chosen by the employer is adequate [to end the harassment], an aggrieved employee cannot object to that selected action. Concomitantly, an employee cannot dictate that the employer select a certain remedial action."])⁹ In any event, the Office accommodated Bailey's request. When Bailey told Clendinen for the first time that she did not want to work with Larkin, Clendinen transferred Larkin to a different assignment outside the Records Room within two weeks. (AA 105:1-106:2). While Bailey implies that she repeatedly requested a separation over the prior ten-month period, that claim is not supported by evidence in the record. And, in any event, the law does not require a separation because Larkin ceased any race-based comments or conduct.

⁹ Bailey claims she received an "[u]njustifiably critical June 2015 Performance Report." (AOB at 40.) But the City's obligation to take corrective action to end racial harassment does not prevent the City from providing constructive feedback to employees.

¹⁰ Likewise, the evidence does not support Bailey's claim that the Office changed her work duties or increased her interactions with Larkin. RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF 46
CASE NO. S265223

Bailey complains that another coworker, Taylor-Monachino, obstructed and sabotaged Bailey's complaint, thus allegedly impeding the City's corrective actions to prevent harassment, but the facts do not support that claim either. Nothing Taylor-Monachino did kept the City from learning of, examining, and promptly responding to the complaint with appropriate and effective corrective action. (AA 627:17-631:20.) Bailey claims that Taylor-Monachino treated her rudely, but another coworker's rudeness does not demonstrate that the City's corrective action to prevent race-based harassment was deficient. Under FEHA, the City had an obligation to take steps reasonably calculated to end racial harassment against Bailey, and it is undisputed that the City did so. (Bradley, supra, 158 Cal.App.4th at p. 1630.) Taylor-Monachino's conduct was not based on Bailey's race. Indeed, Bailey repeatedly conceded that Taylor-Monachino's conduct towards her had nothing to do with their shared African-American backgrounds. (AA 95:13-23, 634:3-8.) FEHA requires employers to end racial harassment, but it does not require employers to eliminate all social slights and interpersonal conflicts between coworkers.¹¹ (Yanowitz, supra, 36 Cal.4th at p. 1054 & fn. 13; Hardage v. CBS Broadcasting, Inc. (9th Cir. 2005) 427 F.3d 1177, 1189.)

Further, the City is not directly liable for the actions of coworkers but instead is only liable for its own negligence in failing to take corrective

Bailey and Larkin covered each others' job duties when the other was unavailable, both before and after the incident. Bailey's job duties never changed. (AA 88:8-91:16; 106:16-22, 107:17-23; 171:23; 462:18-19; 625:19-626:10, 634:22-635:15.) Further, covering Larkin's duties when Larkin was out of the office did not require Bailey and Larkin to interact. (AA 440:23-441:13; 491:23-492:7.)

¹¹ In any event, the Office advised Taylor-Monachino that her behavior was inappropriate, counseled her about handling personnel complaints appropriately, and took corrective action. (AA 632:9-25; 243:23-24.)

action in response to harassment prohibited by FEHA by nonsupervisory employees, when it knows or should know of that conduct. (Carrisales, supra, 21 Cal.4th at p. 1136; Burlington Industries, supra, 524 U.S. at p. 759; Swenson, supra, 271 F.3d at pp. 1191–92 [holding an "employer is responsible for its own actions or omissions, not for the coworker's harassing conduct."].) Bailey suggests without evidentiary support that Taylor-Monachino has "managerial status," but that is incorrect. Taylor-Monachino did not supervise Bailey in her job duties as an Investigative Assistant, or have the authority to "transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, promote, discharge, assign, reward or discipline" Bailey or direct her work. (Gov. Code, § 12926(t); AA 180:4-15; 389:1-7.) They were coworkers who worked in different divisions of the Office, and no facts in the record support Bailey's claim to the contrary. Likewise, Bailey claims that the fact that Larkin denied making the racial slur could be viewed as a "lack of remorse," (AOB at 42), but Larkin's remorse is not a relevant factor. In this coworker harassment case, the City is liable only for its own conduct not the internal thoughts of its employees.

Finally, Bailey contends that the City's investigation into her claim was deficient. (AOB at 43.) Bailey accuses the City of not interviewing "any of the witnesses," but that is false. There were no witnesses to the alleged racial slur except Bailey and Larkin, who were both interviewed by the City. (AA 242:1-2; 333:11-334:10; 629:3-16). The City contacted the people Bailey claims were "witnesses," but none heard the slur. (AA 333:11-334:10; see also AA 281-289.) Bailey's claimed "witnesses" were people who could provide only hearsay testimony that Bailey told them that Larkin made the statement. (*Ibid*; AOB at 19.) In any event, any deficiencies in the investigation do not show that the City failed to take

Bailey holds that, "[w]here, as here, the employer takes prompt steps to stop the harassment, liability cannot be premised on perceived inadequacies in the investigation." (*Swenson*, *supra*, 271 F.3d at p. 1198.) The law does not require that investigations into harassment complaints be perfect. The law requires that the City take corrective action to stop racial harassment, and the undisputed facts demonstrate that the City effectively did so here. (*Ibid.*; *Knabe*, *supra*, 114 F.3d at p. 412 ["The question before us is not whether the investigation was adequate—it appears not to have been—but rather whether the remedial action was adequate."])

In short, the City did exactly what FEHA requires and the caselaw suggests employers "should do" in response to claims of coworker harassment: "it investigated, documented and counseled." (*Ribando v. United Airlines, Inc.* (7th Cir. 1999) 200 F.3d 507, 511). And those actions stopped Bailey from experiencing any further racial harassment. Given those undisputed facts, the Court of Appeal properly held that there was no triable issue of fact concerning the City's liability on Bailey's FEHA harassment claim. (*Mathieu v. Norrell Corporation. supra*, 115 Cal.App.4th at p. 1185; *Swenson, supra*, 271 F.3d at p. 1198.)

II. The Trial Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment On Bailey's Retaliation Claim.

The trial court correctly granted summary judgment on Bailey's retaliation claim because she did not show either an adverse employment action or any causal relationship between an adverse employment action and her protected activity. (*Yanowitz, supra*, 36 Cal.4th at p. 1042 ["[I]n order to establish a prima facie case of retaliation under the FEHA, a plaintiff must show (1) he or she engaged in a 'protected activity,' (2) the

employer subjected the employee to an adverse employment action, and (3) a causal link existed between the protected activity and the employer's action."].)

Bailey asserts that the Court of Appeal's opinion conflicts with *Yanowitz*, but it does not. The parties agree, and the Court of Appeal recognized, that adverse employment actions are not limited to actions such as terminations or demotions that impose an economic detriment on an employee, but also extend to employment actions that are "reasonably likely to adversely and materially affect an employee's job performance or opportunity for advancement in his or her career." (*Yanowitz, supra, 36* Cal.4th at p. 1054.) Likewise, no one disputes that courts should consider "the unique circumstances of the affected employee as well as the workplace context of the claim," and view allegations of retaliation "collectively." (*Yanowitz, supra, 36* Cal.4th at pp. 1052, 1055.)

Nonetheless, *Yanowitz* does not render the requirement to show an adverse employment action toothless, as Bailey suggests. To prevail on a retaliation claim, "an employee must demonstrate that he or she has been subjected to an adverse employment action that materially affects the terms, conditions, or privileges of employment." (*Yanowitz, supra,* 36 Cal.4th at p. 1051.) That evaluation is made from the "objective perspective" of a reasonable employee. (*Id.* at pp. 1054-1055; *Burlington Northern and Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. White* (2006) 548 U.S. 53, 68–69 (*Burlington*) [explaining whether an adverse employment action has occurred is an objective, judicially administrable standard].) The adverse employment action requirement is not satisfied by evidence of a "mere offensive utterance or even a pattern of social slights by either the employer or coemployees" because those actions "cannot properly be viewed as materially

affecting the terms, conditions, or privileges of employment." (*Yanowitz*, at p. 1054.) An adverse employment action is a "substantial and detrimental" impairment in the terms and conditions of employment. (*Thomas, supra,* 77 Cal.App.4th at p. 511.) Conduct that merely inconveniences, displeases or upsets the employee does not meet this standard. (*Akers v. County of San Diego* (2002) 95 Cal.App.4th 1441, 1455; *Fisher v. San Pedro Peninsula Hospital, supra,* 214 Cal.App.3d at p. 608; *Malais v. Los Angeles City Fire Dept.* (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 350, 357-358 ["Workplaces are rarely idyllic retreats, and the mere fact that an employee is displeased by an employer's act or omission does not elevate that act or omission to the level of a materially adverse employment action."])

The adverse employment action requirement serves an important purpose. Requiring employees to prove substantial adverse job effects "guards against both 'judicial micromanagement of business practices,' [citation] and frivolous suits over insignificant slights." (*Akers v. County of San Diego, supra,* 95 Cal.App.4th at p. 1455.) Likewise, it prevents FEHA from becoming a "general civility code for the American workplace." (*Burlington, supra,* 548 U.S. at p. 68.) By evaluating the significance of employment actions while "taking into account the legitimate interests of both the employer and the employee," courts ensure that retaliation suits will not be based on "[m]inor or relatively trivial adverse actions or conduct by employers or fellow employees that, from an objective perspective, are reasonably likely to do no more than anger or upset an employee," but instead will be based only on actions that "materially" affect "the terms, conditions or privileges of employment." (*Yanowitz, supra*, 36 Cal.4th at p. 1054.)

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